PETITION FOR REVIEW

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Petitioner, Robert D. West, was an employee of EMC Metals, Inc. (Elkem Metals) 

for approximately 31 years. During this time, he was exposed daily to the hazards of 

occupational pneumoconiosis including, but not limited to, asbestos, silica, coal dust and coke 

dust. 

Mr. West retired on June 1, 2003. Subsequent to his retirement, he filed a claim for 

occupational pneumoconiosis on March 27, 2006. His application included a report from Dr. 

Miller, a Board Certified Radiologist, who diagnosed Mr. West as having occupational 

pneumoconiosis. Acordia Employer Services, by Claims Decision dated May 30, 2006, fOlU1d 

the claim compensable, subject to the presumptive clause of West Virginia Code §23-4-8(c)(b). 

Mr. West was subsequently referred to the Occupational Pneumoconiosis Board 

(hereinafter "Board") on October 5, 2006. The Board, by x-ray, did not make a diagnosis of that 

disease, nor did it find any pulmonary or gas transfer impairment which it could attribute to 

occupational pneumoconiosis. Accordingly, as of October 5, 2006, the Petitioner did not suffer 

from occupational pneumoconiosis based upon the Findings of the Board. The Claims 

Administrator issued a decision on October 31, 2006, denying an award for occupational 

pneumoconiosis. 

On December 15, 2015, Petitioner filed a new claim for occupational pneumoconiosis 

with HealthSmart Casualty Claims Solutions (hereinafter "HealthSmart"). Attached to his 

application was the Physician's Report of Occupational Pneumoconiosis completed by Dr. 

Jennifer Hadley on November 19, 2015. Dr. Hadley reported that she diagnosed Mr. West as 



having occupational pneumoconiosis on September 28, 2015. She further opined that it was 

"unknown" whether or not Mr. West's work capacity was impaired from that disease. 

By Claims Administrator ruling dated April 12, 2016, HealthSmart rejected Mr. West's 

claim on the basis that it was a "duplicate claim" because Mr. West did not have any additional 

exposure subsequent to the filing of his original claim with the date of last exposure of June 1, 

2003. This order was timely protested by the claimant. By decision dated, March 7, 2017, the 

Office of Judges correctly reversed the Claims Administrator's April 12, 2016, ruling and found 

the claim timely filed. On appeal the Workers' Compensation Board of Review reversed the 

Administrative Law Judge's Decision and rejected the claim as untimely filed. 

ISSUE 

Was the Board ofReview's Order consistent with the facts of the case as well as the 

statutory law? 

ARGUMENT AND POINTS OF AUTHORITY 

The initial denial of this claim by HealthSmart was, at best, absurd. The West Virginia 

Code sections cited in its decision were devoid of any language which prohibits the filing of the 

new claim when there has been no subsequent exposure to dust. West Virginia has always 

recognized the progressive nature of occupational pneumoconiosis. Lester v. State Workers' 

Compensation Commission, 242 S.E.2d 443 (W.Va. 1978). Furthermore, West Virginia Code 

§23-4-16(a)(2) specifically notes that occupational pneumoconiosis is a progressive disease. 

ill West Virginia, the Occupational Pneumoconiosis Board in workers compensation 

claims for occupational pneumoconiosis, has the sole and exclusive authority to detennine if a 

claimant has an x-ray diagnosis of occupational pneumoconiosis and whether or not there is any 

pulmonary or gas transfer impairment which the Board can attribute to the claimant's 
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occupational disease. West Virginia Code §23-4-8c(a) [emphasis added]. Respondent argues 

that the Petitioner was diagnosed by Dr. Miller as having occupational pneumoconiosis when he 

filed the original claim in 2006. However, as noted, the Board, in its Findings of October 5, 

2006, did not make a diagnosis, by x-ray, of occupational pneumoconiosis, nor did it find any 

impairment with his breathing or gas transfer. Accordingly, Dr. Miller's 2006 diagnosis was 

rendered moot by the Board's Findings. Dr. Hadley's November 28, 2015, diagnosis of 

occupational pneumoconiosis is new evidence and can be used for filing a new claim. 

There is absolutely no statute which prohibits a claimant from filing a new claim for 

occupational pneumoconiosis when there was no subsequent hazardous dust exposure after the 

Board's initial examination. In fact, West Virginia Code §23-4-8c(e) specifically permits the 

filing of a new occupational pneumoconiosis claim after a prior occupational pneumoconiosis 

claim had been denied because the Board did not fmd any evidence ofoccupational 

pneumoconiosis. It states as follows: 

"In the event that a claimant receives a :final decision that he or she 
has no evidence of occupational pneumoconiosis, the claimant is 
barred for a period ofthree years from the date of the Occupational 
Pneumoconiosis Board's decision or until his or her employment 
with the employer who employed the claimant at the time 
designated as the claimant's last date of exposure in the denied 
claim has terminated, whichever is sooner, from filing a new claim 
or pursuing a previously filed, but unruled upon, claim for 
occupational pneumoconiosis or requesting a modification of any 
prior ruling finding him or her not to be suffering from 
occupational pneumoconiosis. For the purposes of this subsection, 
a claimant's employment shall be considered to be terminated if, 
for any reason, he or she has not worked for that employer for a 
period in excess of ninety days. Any previously filed, but unruled 
upon, claim shall be consolidated with the chum in which the 
board's decision is made and shall be denied together with the 
decided claim. The provisions ofthis subsection shall not be 
applied in any claim where doing so would, in and of itself, later 
cause a claimant's claim to be forever barred by the provisions of 
section fifteen of this article." [emphasis added] 
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Under the plain language of this statue, a claimant can file a new claim or file a 

modification of any prior ruling. FurtheIDlore, a claimant is not prohibited from filing a new 

claim for occupational pneumoconiosis when there has been no subsequent hazardous dust 

exposure. Accordingly. the Claims Administrator's defense of a "duplicate claim" is void of any 

basis whatsoever to support the denial of this claim. Given the progressive nature of 

occupational pneumoconiosis, it was clearly the enactor's intent in this legislation to protect a 

claimant's right to file a new claim even ifthere has been no subsequent exposure to hazardous 

dust. 

The Respondent, in its appeal before the Board of Review, asserted that West Virginia 

Code §23-4-15(b) and §23-4-l5b, somehow supports its position that the claimant is barred from 

filing a subsequent claim. These statutes set forth the time limitation for the fIling of a claim for 

occupational pneumoconiosis. West Virginia Code §23-4-l5(b) sets forth the current statute of 

limitations for the filing of an occupational pneumoconiosis claim. It was enacted subsequent to 

the 2003 legislation changes which terminated the statutory 5% pennanent partial disability 

award for the diagnosis of occupational pneumoconiosis without any impairment. It states as 

follows: 

"To entitle any employee to compensation for occupational 
pneumoconiosis under the provisions of this subsection, the 
application for compensation shall be made on the fonn or forms 
prescribed by the Insurance Commissioner, and filed with the 
Insurance Commissioner, private carrier or self-insured employer, 
whichever is applicable, within three years from and after the last 
day of the last continuous period of sixty days or more during 
which the employee was exposed to the hazards ofoccupational 
pneumoconiosis or within three years from and after a diagnosed 
impairment due to occupational pneumoconiosis was made known 
to the employee by a physician and unless filed within the tbree
year period, the right to compensation under this chapter is forever 
barred, such time limitation being hereby declared to be a 
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condition of the right and hence jurisdictional, or, in the case of 
death, the application shall be filed by the dependent of the 
employee within two years from and after the employee's death, 
and such time limitation is a condition of the right and hence 
jurisdictional." [emphasis added] 

Respondent further relied upon West Virginia Code §23-4-15b. This statute was 

previously used when the claimants were entitled to a statutory 5% permanent partial disability 

award based upon the Board's x-ray diagnosis of occupational pneumoconiosis without 

impairment. It states as follows: 

"Ifa claim for occupational pneumoconiosis benefits is filed by an 
employee within three years from and after the last day of the last 
continuous period of sixty days' exposure to the hazards of 
occupational pneumoconiosis, the Insurance Commissioner, 
private carrier or self-insured employer, whichever is applicable, 
shall determine whether the claimant was exposed to the hazards of 
occupational pneumoconiosis for a continuous period ofnot less 
than sixty days while in the employ ofthe employer within three 
years prior to the filing ofhis or her claim, whether in the State of 
West Virginia the claimant was exposed to such hazard over a 
continuous period of not less than two years during the ten years 
immediately preceding the date ofhis or her last exposure to the 
hazard and whether the claimant was exposed to the hazard over a 
period of not less than ten years during the fifteen years 
immediately preceding the date ofhis or her last exposure to the 
hazard. Ifa claim for occupational pneumoconiosis benefits is filed 
by an employee within three'years from and after the einployee's 
occupational pneumoconiosis was made known to the employee by 
a physician, the Insurance Commissioner, private carrier or self
insured employer, whichever is applicable, shall determine 
whether the claimant filed his or her application within that 
period ... " 

As stated previously, the Petitioner was diagnosed as having occupational 

pneumoconiosis on September 28, 2015, by Dr. Jennifer Hadley. However, in order for the three 

year statute of limitations begins to run, he also had to be diagnosed by a physician that he had a 

"diagnosed impairment" due to occupational pneumoconiosis. As noted, in the Physician's 
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Report of Occupational Pneumoconiosis, Dr. Hadley did not make a diagnosis that he was 

impaired. 

"Diagnosed impairment" is not defined in the West Virginia Code. Until a claimant is 

found by a physician as having a "diagnosed impairment," the statute of limitations under the 

aforesaid statutory language (West Virginia Code §23-4-15(b)) does not begin to run. 

Accordingly, Petitioner's application was clearly timely filed, and was not barred by this statute. 

For the Respondent to argue otherwise is simply not supported by the statutory language. 

The language contained in this statute does not prohibit a claimant from filing a new 

claim for occupational pneumoconiosis. As noted previously, the Occupational Pneumoconiosis 

Board in 2006 did not find that Petitioner suffered from occupational pneumoconiosis. As such, 

his statute of limitations would not begin to run until November 19,2015, after Dr. Hadley's 

diagnosis, assuming there has been a diagnosed impairment. 

There is no statutory or common law which prohibits the filing of a new claim for 

occupational pneumoconiosis without subsequent exposure. In fact, the statutory language 

expressly gives the right to a claimant to file a new claim after three years of the Board's 

Findings that there was no occupational pneumoconiosis. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the November 21,2017, Order of the Board of Review must 

be reversed and the Office of Judge's Order ofMarch 7,2017, be reinstated.