BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


CHARLESTON 


ROBERTD. WEST 
Supreme Court No. 

Petitioner, Board ofReview No. 2051873 
JCN: 2016016561 

v. BOR Order: 11102/2017 

EMC METALS, INC., 

Respondent. 

BRIEF IN oPPOSmON TO THE PETITION FOR REVIEW 

ON BEHALF OF THE RESPONDENT, 


EMC METALS, INC.

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

WHETHER THE NOVEMBER 2, 2017 DECISION OF THE 
BOARD OF REVIEW CLEARLY VIOLATES A 
CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISION, OR IS 
CLEARLY WRONG BASED ON THE EVIDENTIARY 
RECORD? 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On February 16, 2006, the claimant filed a prior application for occupational 

pnemnoconiosis benefits, subject of Claim No. 2006032303-0P. He reported that he had worked 

at Elkem Metals Company in the powerhouse from February 12, 1974 until June 1, 2003, as a 

powerhouse mechanic. 
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In that prior claim, the employer filed its report on May 9, 2006, establishing that 

the claimant began working for Elkem Metals Company on July 1, 1981 and ceased working 

there on May 31, 2003. 

Dr. S. Mehta of New River Family Health Center completed the physician's 

portion of that prior claimant's application. He noted that the claimant was complaining of 

exertional dyspnea and that he had "retired 6/1/03." (sic) In that prior claim, a February 16, 

2006 chest x-ray was interpreted by Thomas Miller, M.D., as showing pneumoconiosis with pip 

opacities and a profusion of 011. Dr. Miller wrote, "There are multiple bilateral small round 

opacities ranging in size up to approximately 1.5 mm. There are no large opacities." He 

diagnosed pneumoconiosis based upon that radiograph. 

On May 30, 2006, a non-medical order was entered in that prior claim (No. 

2006032303-0P), holding that the claimant was entitled to the presumption that he had 

occupational pneumoconiosis because he had satisfied the requirement of 10 years of exposure 

during the 15 years immediately his date of filing or date oflast exposure. 

On October 5, 2006, the Occupational Pneumoconiosis Board found that the 

claimant had been exposed to a dust hazard for approximately 31 years but the chest x-rays 

showed insufficient pleural or parenchyma1 changes to establish a diagnosis of occupational 

pneumoconiosis. 

By protestable order of October 31, 2006 in that prior Claim No. 20070212246 -

OP, the claimant was held not to be entitled to any medical benefits because the Occupational 

Pneumoconiosis Board had not made a diagnosis of occupational pneumoconiosis. He was not 

granted any award based on that OP Board examination. 

2 
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The claimant protested that order in the prior claim on November 27,2006. By 

appealable decision of September 24, 2007, the chief administrative law judge affirmed the 

October 31,2006 order. 

Eight years later, the claimant filed this application for occupational 

pneumoconiosis benefits in the instant claim. He again listed his date of last exposure as January 

6,2003. 

On April 12, 2016, the self-insured employer held that this new claim was a 

duplicate ofprior Claim No. 20070212246 and was denied on the basis that the claimant had not 

established the existence of any additional exposure to the hazards of occupational 

pneumoconiosis since 2003. The claimant protested that order. 

On October 5, 2016, the claimant was deposed as had been arranged by his 

attorney. He confirmed that he had last worked at Elkem Metals Company on January 6, 2003. 

(Trans., p. 23) Subsequent to that employment, he worked for six weeks for Clay Development. 

(Trans., p. 24) Thereafter. he has worked for Gould's Electric in Clay County, West Virginia 

where he continues to be employed. (Trans., p. 25) He denied being exposed to any 

occupational dust as an employee of Gould's Electric. (Trans.,pp. 27-29) Specifically he was 

asked, "Just to establish this for the record, you are saying since 2004 you haven't had any dust 

exposure at work, correct?" He responded, "That's correct." (Trans., p. 29) 

By decision of March 7, 2017, Administrative Law Judge Martha Hill reversed 

the rejection order of April 12, 2016 and held that the claimant could file this duplicate claim for 

occupational pneumoconiosis. 

3 
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The employer appealed from that administrative law judge decision. By order of 

November 2, 2017, the Workers' Compensation Board of Review reversed and vacated the 

March 7, 2017 decision and reinstated the rejection order of April 12, 2016, "but the claims 

administrator's reason for the rejection of the claim [was] not adopted." The Board based its 

decision on the following facts and conclusions: 

The Board fmds the Office of Judges' order's analysis and 
conclusions were affected by error of law and clearly wrong in 
view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the 
whole record. The claims administrator rejected the claim because 
it considered the claim to be a duplicate of a prior claim 
(2007212246) and the claimant had no additional exposure. The 
Administrative Law Judge reversed and found the claimant is not 
barred from filing this claim with the same date of last exposure as 
a prior claim, since he has not been infonned that he has a 
diagnosed impairment due to occupational pneumoconiosis. 

The Board finds that the claim must be rejected based upon West 
Virginia Code § 23-4-1S(b), which provides as follows: "To 
entitle any employee to compensation for occupational 
pneumoconiosis under the provisions of this subsection, the 
application for compensation shall be made on the form or forms 
prescribed by the Insurance Commissioner, and filed with the 
Insurance Commissioner, private carrier or self-insured employer, 
whichever is applicable, within three years from and after the last 
day of the last continuous period of sixty days or more during 
which the employee was exposed to the hazards of occupational 
pneumoconiosis or within three years from and after a diagnosed 
impairment due to occupational pneumoconiosis was made known 
to the employee by a physician and unless filed within the three
year period, the right to compensation under this chapter is forever 
barred, such time limitation being hereby declared to be a 
condition of the right and hence jurisdictional, or, in the case of 
death, the application shall be filed by the dependent of the 
employee within two years from and after the employee's death, 
and such time limitation is a condition of the right and hence 
jurisdictional." 

In an occupational pneumoconiosis claim that does not involve a 
death, the claimant must satisfy one of the following criteria: (l) 
file the claim within three years from and after the last day of the 
last continuous period of sixty days or more during which the 
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claimant was exposed to the hazards of occupational 
pneumoconiosis, or (2) file the clam within three years from and 
after a diagnosed impairment due to occupational pneumoconiosis 
was made known to the claimant by a physician. Neither of these 
criteria has been met in this claim. Therefore, the rejection of the 
claim must be reinstated. 

The claimant has now petitioned this Honorable Court for review of that Board of